Stoma Care

Edited by Jennie Burch

Stoma Care

Dedication

I would like to dedicate this to my friends and family all of whom I love very much. It has been hard work and thank you for all your support.

Stoma Care

Edited by Jennie Burch

This edition first published 2008 © 2008 John Wiley & Sons Ltd

Wiley-Blackwell is an imprint of John Wiley and Sons, formed by the merger of Wiley's global Scientific, Technical and Medical business with Blackwell Publishing.

Registered office

John Wiley & Sons Ltd, The Atrium, Southern Gate, Chichester, West Sussex, PO19 8SQ, United Kingdom

Editorial office

John Wiley & Sons Ltd, The Atrium, Southern Gate, Chichester, West Sussex, PO19 8SQ, United Kingdom

For details of our global editorial offices, for customer services and for information about how to apply for permission to reuse the copyright material in this book please see our website at www.wiley.com/wiley-blackwell.

The right of the author to be identified as the author of this work has been asserted in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, except as permitted by the UK Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988, without the prior permission of the publisher.

Wiley also publishes its books in a variety of electronic formats. Some content that appears in print may not be available in electronic books.

Designations used by companies to distinguish their products are often claimed as trademarks. All brand names and product names used in this book are trade names, service marks, trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective owners. The publisher is not associated with any product or vendor mentioned in this book. This publication is designed to provide accurate and authoritative information in regard to the subject matter covered. It is sold on the understanding that the publisher is not engaged in rendering professional services. If professional advice or other expert assistance is required, the services of a competent professional should be sought.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Stoma care / edited by Jennie Burch.

p.; cm.

Includes bibliographical references and index.

ISBN 978-0-470-03177-3 (pbk.: alk. paper) 1. Enterostomy – Nursing.

2. Urinary diversion - Nursing. I. Burch, Jennie.

[DNLM: 1. Enterostomy – nursing. 2. Surgical Stomas. 3. Enterostomy – rehabilitation.

4. Perioperative Nursing – methods. 5. Rehabilitation Nursing – methods.

WY 161 S8753 2008] RD540.S835 2008 617.5'540231 – dc22 2008007539

A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library.

Set in 10 on 11.5 pt Palatino by SNP Best-set Typesetter Ltd., Hong Kong

Printed in Singapore by Markono Print Media, Ptd, Ltd

Contents

Lis	t of contributors	xiv	
Acl	knowledgements	xvii	
Pre	face	xviii	
Int	Introduction		
1	Stomas: The Past, Present and Future Jennie Burch	1	
	Introduction	1	
	The history of stomas		
	Stomas	1 3 7	
	Stoma care nursing	7	
	Roles of the stoma specialist nurse	8	
	Present day stoma care	9	
	Support groups	10	
	The future of stoma care	10	
	References	11	
2	Anatomy and Physiology of the Urinary and		
_	Gastrointestinal System	14	
	Jennie Burch		
	Introduction	14	
	The skin	14	
	Wound healing process	17	
	The abdominal wall	18	
	The peritoneum	19	
	The gastrointestinal tract	19	
	The digestive process	20	
	The bowel wall	21	
	Blood supply	22	
	Lymphatic supply	22	
	Mouth	23	
	Oesophagus	23	
	Stomach	23	
	Small intestine	25	
	Duodenum	25	

	Jejunum and ileum	25
	Large intestine	27
	Caecum	27
	Ascending colon	28
	Transverse colon	28
	Descending colon	28
	Sigmoid colon	28
	Rectum	28
	Anal canal	28
	Accessory organs associated with the GI tract	29
	The liver	29
	The gallbladder	30
	The pancreas	30
	The spleen	31
	Urinary system	31
	References	35
3	Colorectal Cancer and Adjunct Therapy	37
	Deep Tolia-Shah	
	Introduction	37
	Incidence	37
	Possible causal factors	38
	Symptoms and clinical presentations	40
	Assessment, staging investigations and	
	the multidisciplinary team	42
	Multidisciplinary team	44
	Pre-operative staging	44
	Surgery	45
	Histopathology	50
	Adjuvant chemotherapy	51
	Effects of chemotherapy on stomas	52
	Radiotherapy	53
	Palliative chemotherapy	53
	Surveillance and follow-up	53
	Screening	54
	Conclusion	54
	Further information and websites	54
	References	55
	Further reading	56
4	Inflammatory Bowel Disease	58
	Jennie Burch	
	Introduction	58
	Crohn's disease	58
	Ulcerative colitis	58
	Inflammatory bowel disease statistics	59
	Signs and symptoms for ulcerative colitis	59
	Crohn's disease: signs and symptoms	60
	Aetiology of IBD	61
	Diagnosing IBD	62

		Contents	vii
	Medical therapy for IBD		63
	Dietary therapy for IBD		67
	Surgery for Crohn's disease		67
	Surgery for ulcerative colitis		68
	Malignancy in ulcerative colitis		69
	Malignancy in Crohn's disease		69
	Extra-intestinal manifestations		69
	Other medical issues in IBD		70
	Fertility in IBD		70
	Patient education		71
	Conclusion		71
	References		72
5	Familial Adenomatous Polyposis		75
	Jacquie Wright and Kay Neale Introduction		75
	The Polyposis Registry and research		75
	Diagnosing FAP		76
	Bowel screening of relatives 'at-risk'		78
	Surgery		78
	Colectomy with IRA		79
	Restorative proctocolectomy		79
	Total/panproctocolectomy		80
	Upper GI disease		80
	Extra-colonic manifestations (ECMs)		81
	Desmoid disease		82
	An accessible expert centre		83
	References		85
6	Continence		86
	Julie Duncan and Christine Norton		
	Introduction		86
	Normal bladder and bowel control		86
	Risk factors for incontinence		87
	Obstetric trauma to the pelvic floor		87
	Age		88
	Investigations		89
	Treatment of incontinence		90
	Practical management		91
	Surgical interventions		92
	Conclusion		94
	Useful websites		94
	References		94
7	Other Conditions Leading to Stoma Formation		96
	Jennie Burch Introduction		96
	Congenital malformations/anomalies		96
	Cystic fibrosis		97
	Diverticular disease		98

	Ehlers Danlos	98
	Gynaecological tumour	98
	Hereditary non-polyposis colon cancer (HNPCC)	98
	Hirschsprung's disease	99
	Interstitial cystitis	99
	Intussusception	99
	Irradiation damage	100
	Ischaemic bowel	100
	Meconium ileus	100
	Megarectum	100
	Necrotising enterocolitis	101
	Necrotising fasciitis	101
	Obstruction	101
	Perforated bowel	101
	Solitary rectal ulcer	102
	Spina bifida	102
	Spinal cord injury	102
	Trauma	102
	Visceral myopathy	102
	Volvulus	103
	Conclusion	103
	References	103
8	Surgery	106
	Alistair Windsor and Gemma Conn	
	Introduction	106
	Temporary stomas	106
	Permanent stomas	107
	Stoma formation	108
	Surgical technique	109
	Surgical alternatives	112
	Complications	113
	Enhanced recovery after surgery (ERAS)	116
	Conclusion	117
	References and further reading	117
9	Pre- and Post-operative Care	119
	Steve Wright and Jennie Burch	
	Introduction	119
	Referral to health care professionals	119
	Pre-operative assessment and investigations	119
	Pre-operative information	122
	Bowel preparation	123
	Meeting another ostomate	124
	Informed consent	124
	Stoma siting assessment	125
	Cultural/religious issues related to siting	127
	Stoma siting	127
	Pre-operative fasting Post-operative aims	128 128

		Contents	1X
	Post-operative care		129
	Blood tests		130
	Nausea and vomiting		130
	Nutrition		131
	Post-operative analgesia		131
	Post-operative exercises		133
	Post-operative appliances		133
	Post-operative stoma assessment		133
	Normal stomas		134
	Normal stoma outputs		134
	Post-operative urostomies		134
	Post-operative faecal stomas		135
	Wound care		135
	Post-operative stoma care teaching		135
	Teaching plan		136
	Stoma closure		137
	Small bowel obstruction		137
	Wound infection		138
	Abdominal sepsis		138
	References		138
10	Intestinal Pouches		142
	Zarah Perry-Woodford		
	Introduction		142
	The coloanal or colonic 'J' pouch		142
	The Kock pouch/reservoir		143
	The ileoanal pouch		144
	Patient suitability and selection		145
	The 'S', 'J' or 'W' pouch		145
	Pre-operative counselling (surgical vs. medical		
	approach)		146
	Post-operative care		148
	Anal skin care		148
	Fertility, pregnancy and childbirth		149
	Pouch absorption and diet		151
	Problems following RPC		152
	Research and current development		156
	Laparoscopic surgery		157
	Probiotics		158
	Quality of life		158
	Nursing developments		158
	References		159
11	Urinary Diversion		163
	Sharon Fillingham		
	Introduction		163
	Reasons for urinary diversion		163
	Urostomy		163
	Colonic conduit		164
	The ileal conduit		164

x Contents

	Internal urinary pouches	168
	Neobladder	173
	Urinary drainage	175
	The Mainz Sigma II pouch (modified	
	ureterosigmoidostomy)	177
	Support groups	181
	References	181
12	Appliances	183
	Jo Sica and Jennie Burch	
	Introduction	183
	History of stoma care products	183
	Modern pouches	185
	Colostomy appliances	185
	Ileostomy appliances	186
	Urostomy appliances	186
	Additional drainage bags	187
	One- and two-piece appliances	188
	Adhesive coupling system	188
	Toilet flushable colostomy appliances	188
	Stoma caps	189
	Stoma plug	190
	Appliances for high-output stomas	190
	Fistula appliances	191
	Convex flanges	191
	Stoma accessories	192
	Protective wafers/sheets	192
	Skin cleansers	193
	Paste	193
	Seals and washers	194
	Flange securing tape	194
	Ostomy belts	194
	Adhesive	194
	Adhesive removers	195
	Odour treatment options	195
	Protective powder	195
	Protective film	195
	Protective cream	196
	Pancaking prevention agents	196
	Discharge solidifying agents	196
	Pouch clips and soft ties	197
	Pouch covers	197
	Flatus filters	197
	Hernia support garments	197
	Protective shields	198
	Clothing	198
	Stoma appliance costing	198
	Conclusion	199
	References	199

Contents	xi
Contents	X

13	Discharge to the Community	201
	Jennie Burch	
	Introduction	201
	Discharge criteria	201
	Stoma supplies	202
	Disposal of appliances	203
	Obtaining further supplies	203
	Nurse prescribing	204
	Appliances	204
	Follow-up visits	204
	Post-operative psychological adjustment	205
	Returning to work	205
	Resuming social activities and hobbies	206
	Exercises	206
	Driving	206
	Clothing	207
	Alcohol	207
	Support garments	207
	Travel	207
	Long-term follow-up	207
	References	208
14	Nutrition	210
	Morag Pearson	
	Introduction	210
	Digestion and absorption of nutrients	210
	'The Balance of Good Health'	211
	Colostomy	214
	Dietary management of functional problems	
	post-colostomy formation	215
	Ileostomy	217
	Dietary management of functional problems	
	post-ileostomy formation	218
	Ileoanal pouch	221
	Dietary management of functional problems post-ileoanal	
	pouch formation	222
	Urostomy	225
	Dietary management of functional problems following	
	urostomy formation	225
	Peri-operative nutrition	226
	Provision of nutrition support	227
	Monitoring	228
	Conclusion	228
	References	228
	Further reading	232
15	Complications	233
	Jennie Burch	
	Introduction	233

	Short-term complications	233
	Long-term complications	233
	Allergy and skin sensitivities	233
	Bleeding	234
	Cancer recurrence locally	234
	Crohn's disease	234
	Constipation	235
	Diarrhoea	235
	Discolouration of the stoma	235
	Flatus	235
	Granulomas/overgranulation	236
	Hernia	236
	High-output stoma	238
	Ileus (paralytic ileus)	238
	Infection	239
	Melanosis coli	240
	Mucocutaneous separation	240
	Necrosis	240
	Obstruction	241
	Odour	241
	Pancaking	242
	Phantom bladder/rectum	242
	Prolapse	242
	Pyoderma gangrenosum	243
	Retraction	243
	Skin problems	244
	Stenosis	246
	Stoma trauma	246
	Urine crystal formation	246
	Varices	247
	Conclusion	247
	References	247
16	Fistulae and Intestinal Failure	251
	Jennie Burch	
	Introduction	251
	Defining fistulae	251
	Intestinal failure	261
	Parenteral nutrition (PN)	266
	Fistuloclysis	267
	Conclusion	268
	References	268
17	David Imiastica	271
17	Bowel Irrigation	271
	Jennie Burch and Julie Duncan Introduction	271
		2/1 271
	Rectal irrigation	
	Colonic irrigation	273
	Colostomy irrigation	273 280
	Travel	280

		Contents	X111
	Antegrade colonic enemas (ACEs)		280
	Percutaneous endoscopic colostomy (PEC)		282
	Conclusion		285
	References		285
	References		200
18	Other Stoma Issues		288
	Jennie Burch		
	Introduction		288
	Age related issues		288
	Drugs		290
	Exercise		292
	Psychological issues		294
	Body image		295
	Sexual issues		295
	Specialist clothing		298
	Toilet access		299
	Cultural issues		299
	Religious issues		299
	Travel		300
	Quality of life		301
	Conclusion		301
	References		301
7	1		204
Inc	lex		304

List of Contributors

Jennie Burch RN (Adult), BSc (Hons), ENB 980, ENB 998, Preparation in stoma care and inflammatory bowel disease modules at BSc level (editor)

Jennie currently works with people with bowel diseases, including inflammatory bowel disease, as the lead physiology research nurse at St Mark's Hospital, part of the North West London Hospitals NHS Trust. Previously she was a clinical nurse specialist – stoma care at St Mark's Hospital for seven years, working with ostomates, patients with enterocutaneous fistulae, intestinal pouches and intestinal failure.

Gemma Conn MBChb, MRCS, MSc

Gemma currently works as a general surgical registrar on the North East Thames rotation.

Julie Duncan MSc RGN, ENB 216

Julie is currently a PhD student at King's College London, working jointly at the Royal Marsden Hospital NHS Foundation Trust researching effective management of radiation induced bowel injury and at the Burdett Institute of GI Nursing as a research fellow/lecturer. Julie's clinical background has been mainly based at St Mark's Hospital where she was the lead clinical nurse specialist for bowel control.

Sharon Fillingham RN, BSc (Hons), MSc, Dip.Counselling, ENB 978, 980, 870, 998 and 216

Sharon is Clinical Nurse Specialist Urinary Diversion/Psychosexual and Gender Therapist at the University College London Hospitals. She currently works as a CNS Urinary Diversion with individuals undergoing reconstructive bladder surgery. Sharon qualified as a Stoma Care Nurse in 1986 and has worked as a urology stoma nurse since then.

Kay Neale MSc, RGN

Kay is a Nurse Specialist in the Polyposis Syndromes. She is currently the Manager of the St Mark's Hospital Polyposis Registry, having worked there since 1984.

Christine Norton PhD, MA, RN

Christine is Burdett Professor of Gastrointestinal Nursing, Associate Dean (Research), King's College London, and Nurse Consultant – Bowel Control, St Mark's Hospital. She has worked in continence nursing since 1979, both urinary and bowel. She was the Chair of the NICE guidelines on faecal incontinence (2007) and Chairs the RCN Gastroenterology and Stoma Care Forum.

Morag Pearson BSc(Hons), RD

Morag is Advanced Specialist Dietitian in Gastroenterology, St Mark's Hospital, specialising in intestinal failure, the management of intestinal stomas, pouches and enterocutaneous fistulae, inflammatory bowel disease and functional bowel disorders.

Zarah Perry-Woodford RN (Adult) Diploma in Nursing 1999, ENB 998, NVQ Assessor (D33/34), Foundations in stoma care, inflammatory bowel disease and Stoma care nursing modules at BSc level

Post registration, Zarah served in the Royal Air Force for three years as a military nurse on a general ward. She has worked as the Clinical Nurse Specialist in Pouch Care at St Mark's since 2005, developing the service and the nurse-led clinic. Previously she was employed as a clinical nurse specialist in stoma care at St Mark's working with ostomates, patients with enterocutaneous fistulae and intestinal failure.

Jo Sica RN (Adult) ENB 216

Jo currently works as Global Clinical Manager, Ostomy, Hollister Inc. Previously she worked as clinical specialist, Stoma Care in various hospitals including St George's University Hospital, London. She is Honorary Officer, WCET UK 2006 to present date.

Deep Tolia-Shah BSc, RN

Deep is currently Colorectal Clinical Nurse Specialist, Broomfield Hospital, Chelmsford, Essex. Previously she worked for ten years with people with colorectal disorders as a Macmillan colorectal cancer nurse specialist at St Mark's Hospital and more recently as a colorectal clinical nurse specialist.

Alistair C.J. Windsor MD FRCS FRCS(Ed)

Alistair is Consultant Colorectal Surgeon at University College Hospital in London and Honorary Senior Lecturer at the University College London. His clinical and research interests remain in sepsis and nutrition and since moving from St Mark's he has retained a busy tertiary referral practice focused mainly on the management of surgical catastrophe which includes, to a large extent, the management of enterocutaneous fistulae and complex Crohn's disease.

Jacquie Wright BSc RN DN, ENB 998, ENB 860

Jacquie worked as a Nurse Practitioner at St Mark's Hospital and specialised in caring for patients with the various Polyposis Syndromes for several years before a recent change of career.

Steve Wright RN (Adult), ENB 998, ENB 980, ENB R36, Preparation in stoma care level III

Steve is currently practising as a Perioperative Specialist Practitioner with colorectal surgical inpatients at St Mark's Hospital, caring for patients with a variety of complex bowel disorders. His previous roles include working as a stoma care nurse and senior charge nurse.

Acknowledgements

I would like to say thank you to all the people who have helped me by answering my never-ending questions when writing this book and in general. I have not named you all but a *big thank you!*

In particular, thanks to all those who contributed to the chapters and those who advised me on them – Chris Burch, Terry Burch, Brigitte Collins, Natalie Crawley, Julie Duncan, Ailsa Hart, Adam Haycock, David Lloyd, Yas Maeda, Jo Malone, Marian O'Connor, Zarah Perry-Woodford, Anna Swatton and Jo Sica.

Preface

Stoma care is a field of great interest, although not a glamorous subject, for nurses and allied health care professionals. This book aims to give the reader detailed information on stoma care and related topics to help develop the care of ostomates (people with stomas) and to improve their quality of life.

Working as a specialist nurse within a specialist hospital has given me knowledge and experience that I would like to share with others. I have also worked with many exceptional people; some have contributed to this book either directly or indirectly.

This book is written for readers with an interest in stoma care and related issues. It is also written so that it may be dipped into for information or read fully. The aim is to discuss comprehensively the subject which has been written about in many books and journals, pulling together many of the numerous issues related to stoma care.

Bodily function is not a glamorous subject and when something goes wrong with these systems, patients need knowledge-based help from their health care professionals. The objective of this book is to provide a comprehensive resource to assist in this process. This book will be a valuable aid for all health care professionals involved in the care of patients with gastrointestinal problems.

Iennie Burch

Introduction

This book is written to assist health care professionals when caring for ostomates; before, immediately after stoma forming surgery and in the long term. Many specialist nurses, doctors and dietitians wrote the book. The book is divided into chapters to make reading easier and to enable the reader to gain quick access to the topic of interest.

The contents of each chapter are subdivided into related information. Practical information is provided for use in the clinical area. This advice aims to assist the health care professional in caring for and giving guidance to the ostomate.

Many related subjects such as bowel diseases and continence will be discussed. This will assist the reader in understanding some of the complications and processes that the person with a stoma has encountered prior to their surgery. However, other stoma types such as tracheostomies will not be discussed in this book.

Illustrations and pictures are included to assist the reader. Tables and bullet points are used to simplify issues, making reading more simple.

Chapter 1

Stomas: The Past, Present and Future

Jennie Burch

Introduction

A stoma is a Greek word meaning mouth or opening (McCahon 1999) and they have been written about for over 2000 years. This chapter provides a history of stoma care through to the present day and offers thoughts for the future. The types of stomas that are generally formed to pass faeces or urine from the body under involuntary control by the patient are discussed. The other types of stoma such as the tracheostomy and gastrostomy will not be explored.

The history of stomas

The history of stoma care gives perspective and is examined from the 1700s to date. In Aristotle's time (384–322 BC) surgery for intestinal obstruction was reported; the results, however, are not discussed (MacKeigan 1997). In Celsus' time (55 BC-AD 7) there were poor survival outcomes from an abdominal injury to the colon, but a repair was worth attempting, as no intervention would result in certain death (Lewis 1999). However, during these times it was not thought worth attempting surgery for ileal damage.

In the 1700s there were several successful surgically exteriorised bowels. Stomas were formed as a consequence of faecal fistulae resulting from war, trauma or a strangulated hernia. The earliest recorded success in stoma care was a battle wound. George Deppe was injured in 1706. His abdominal wounds discharged faeces and he lived for 14 years with a prolapsed colostomy (Cromar 1968). During the eighteenth century to collect the faeces a tin or some cloth was used over the stoma and although this was problematic at least the person lived. Mr William Cheselden in 1756 operated on Margaret White when she was 73 years old. She had a prolapsed umbilical hernia that became gangrenous. After the surgeon formed a transverse colostomy, she lived for many years (Black 2000). An obstructing carcinoma led Pillore in 1776 to perform a cecostomy but the patient

died 28 days later when the carcinoma perforated (MacKeigan 1997). Infant surgery was also successfully described. In 1798 a French surgeon, Duret, created a colostomy on a four-day-old baby with an anorectal defect. The patient lived for over 40 years (Webster 1985). In 1795 following a farming injury a French surgeon Daguesceau created a colostomy that the farmer lived with using a small, leather drawstring bag to collect the faeces (Cromar 1968).

During the 1800s mortality was high due to peritonitis as a result of faecal contamination (Black 2000). Mr Simon described urinary diversion surgery after operating on a child with a bladder abnormality in 1851. A channel was created between the ureters and the rectum. Despite the surgical technique being successful the child died several months later. Martini in 1879 performed a procedure similar to a Hartmann's (MacKeigan 1997). In 1887 William Allingham described formation of a loop colostomy with a glass rod (Lewis 1999). Using a rod with a loop stoma is often still undertaken, although the rod is now made from plastic.

Moving on to the twentieth century bowel resections and closures were undertaken successfully, but mortality remained high. Von Mikulicz in 1903 formed a double-barrel colostomy and this was closed using a crushing enterotome (Black 2000). In 1911 Coffey diverted urine by implanting the ureters into the sigmoid colon (Coffey 1911). The output was wet faeces, which was malodorous and caused peri-anal skin excoriation and infection. Mortality was very high at approximately 50%, predominantly due to infection. Hartmann in 1923 is attributed with the procedure that currently bears his name (Black 2000). Hartmann described an elective resection of a recto-sigmoid cancer and formation of an end colostomy. Miller in Canada performed in 1949 the first panproctocolectomy with formation of a permanent ileostomy, with 24 procedures performed without mortality (Miller et al. 1949). Bricker in 1950 formed the ileal conduit. Bryan Brooke from the UK addressed the difficulty with ileostomy management in 1952 by devising the spouted ileostomy (Brooke 1952). A spouted ileostomy reduces the risk of peri-stomal skin excoriation and was later revised to the '554 ileostomy' (Hall et al. 1995). In the 1950s the abdominoperineal resection of the rectum (AP, APR or APER) was introduced, resulting in the formation of a permanent colostomy (Black 2000).

A number of pouches were devised in the late twentieth century. In an attempt to improve the patients' quality of life, in 1969 a Swedish surgeon named Kock created an internal pouch to act as a faecal reservoir (Kock 1969). The Kock pouch was made continent by a valve and emptied regularly using a catheter passed through the abdominal stoma. This is rarely performed now since Parks further improved this in 1978, when he formed an ileoanal pouch that was attached to the anus and thus retained faecal continence (Parks *et al.* 1980). In Germany in the 1970s a magnetic colostomy system was developed to provide a continent stoma (Taylor-Mahood 1982). Although this was successful it is no longer used in the UK. Mitrofanoff in the 1980s devised the urinary pouch that required emptying with a catheter via a small opening in the abdomen. The Mitrofanoff pouch has proved effective after a 15-year follow up (Liard *et al.* 2001); for more information see Chapter 11 on urological pouches.

More recent changes include the increasing use of laparoscopic surgery. There has also been a reduction in the length of hospital stays, which reduces the time available for stoma training (MacKeigan 1997).

Stomas

A stoma is a surgically formed opening from the inside of an organ to the outside (Hyland 2002). In general the beginning of the name explains where the opening originates. The bowel that is attached to the abdomen is referred to as a stoma or an ostomy. There are three main types of stoma that are formed using the bowel: the colostomy, ileostomy and urostomy. There are other variations such as the rare jejunostomy.

There are a reported 100000 ostomates (people with stomas) in the UK (Williams & Ebanks 2003). This figure remains largely unchanged over recent times (Lee 2001). The number of newly formed stomas in the UK appears to have remained fairly constant for the last ten years. In 2006 there were 21 351 stomas formed, in 2001 figures were 19 911 and in 1996 they stood at 19 806 (IMS 2007). To assist those with less experience of stomas the various terms for stomas are explained more fully.

End stomas

An end stoma is formed when one end of the bowel is brought through the surface of the abdomen. The edges of the bowel are turned back and stitched to the abdominal skin with dissolvable sutures. The other end of the bowel might be removed, as in an abdominoperineal resection of the rectum, or over-sewn such as in a Hartmann's procedure. An end stoma can be temporary or permanent but generally is permanent.

Loop stomas

Loop stomas are formed when the distal bowel is defunctioned, for example to protect an anastomosis. A loop of bowel is brought through the surface of the abdomen. A rod or bridge may be used under the bowel to reduce the risk of retraction, but this is not always required. The bowel loop is partially opened and the bowel edges are folded back and sutured to the skin with dissolvable sutures (Davenport & Sica 2003) resulting in two openings. Through the proximal (afferent) loop will pass faeces. Through the distal (efferent) loop will pass either nothing or a little mucus (Hyland 2002). As two loops of bowel are brought to the skin, loop stomas tend to be larger than end stomas. Loop stomas are generally temporary stomas, formed to make easy access to the distal bowel limb for rejoining at a later stage.

Split/divided stomas (Devine operation)

Split stomas are formed when both ends of the bowel are brought to the skin surface, but at different incision sites (Williams & Ebanks 2003). This may be following a subtotal colectomy when the ileum is formed into an

ileostomy and the rectum into a colostomy (mucous fistula). A split stoma is usually temporary.

Double-barrelled stomas (Bloch-Paul-Miculicz)

A double-barrelled stoma may be used following resection of diseased bowel. The proximal stoma will pass faeces and the distal bowel will be non-functioning but both ends are exteriorised. This can appear like a loop stoma, but no rod is required. Closure of the temporary stoma will require further surgery.

Defunctioning stoma

A defunctioning stoma is intended only to be present for about three to six months and is used to defunction an anastomosis, for example. This can be as a loop stoma or an end stoma with closure of the distal limb. A loop stoma will not fully defunction the distal bowel, as it is possible for faeces to pass from the proximal to the distal bowel and not into the appliance. However a loop stoma does well enough in most cases (Nicholls 1996) to prevent complications.

Trephine stoma

A trephine stoma is created laparoscopically through an incision on the abdomen prior to the abdomen being opened. This means that the stoma is formed on secure muscles (Nicholls 1996). Often a midline abdominal incision is not required for a trephine colostomy, such as one formed for faecal incontinence.

Temporary stomas

In 2006 the number of temporary stomas formed was 10301 which was a rise from 9067 in 2001 and an increase from 7925 in 1996 (IMS 2007). It should be noted that the number of temporary ileostomies has more than doubled in a ten-year period to 5749 in 2006 and the number of temporary transverse colostomies has more than halved to 760 in the same time period (IMS 2007). There are a variety of situations that may require the formation of a temporary stoma, in the emergency situation where there is sepsis, for example, and thus a risk to an anastomosis (Kirkwood 2005). A temporary stoma may be formed to protect an anastomosis until healing has occurred. Generally a temporary stoma is reversed or closed three or more months after the initial surgery in a smaller operation.

Permanent stomas

The number of permanent stomas has remained stable at about 11000 newly formed each year (IMS 2007). Permanent stomas are generally formed if anal sphincters will be compromised during surgery. This could be in situations where incontinence may follow resection of a low rectal tumour, for example. A permanent stoma is also formed when the distal

portion of the bowel or urinary tract is removed, for example in an abdominoperineal resection of the rectum.

Colostomy

In 2006 there were 6673 permanent colostomies formed and 4552 temporary colostomies (IMS 2007). A colostomy is a surgical procedure in which the colon is diverted to the abdomen to pass faeces from the body. This is currently the most common type of stoma. Colostomies may be temporary, after a trauma for example, or permanent for an anal cancer. A colostomy is usually situated in the left iliac fossa and is red, warm, moist and flush or minimally raised (Stephenson *et al.* 1995). The size and shape may vary, but an average is 30–35 mm in diameter.

A colostomy can be formed as an end or a loop stoma. It is important to note that when caring for an ostomate with a loop colostomy any medication or irrigation needs to be given via the correct route (Hyland 2002). A temporary end colostomy is formed when the colon is divided, in a Hartmann's procedure, for example.

The output from a colostomy is flatus and usually formed or soft faeces. The more distal the stoma, the more formed the faeces will be; this means that a transverse colostomy will have a more loose faecal output than a sigmoid colostomy, for example. A colostomy may be formed from the sigmoid colon, descending colon, transverse colon or the caecum (Hess 2003).

The appliance generally used by a colostomate is a closed bag. The appliance will need replacing when approximately a third to a half full. Colostomy appliances are therefore replaced once or twice daily, but this will vary depending on the colostomate's bowel function, which is generally every few days to three times daily. Most two-piece appliances can be used for up to seven days (Shollenberger *et al.* 2000), but not generally more than four days. Colostomy irrigation is also a method of management and the appliance used in this situation would be a stoma cap (see Chapter 17 on bowel irrigation).

Ileostomy

An ileostomy is the diversion of the ileum to the abdominal surface to pass faeces. Generally the terminal ileum is used to form an ileostomy. In 2006 there were 5749 temporary ileostomies and 2894 permanent ileostomies formed (IMS 2007). An ileostomy may also be temporary, permanent, an end or a loop stoma. The output from an ileostomy is loose faeces, often porridge-like in consistency. However, the faeces will vary throughout the day depending on what is consumed by the ileostomate. The average daily faecal output passed from an ileostomy is 600 to 800 ml (Black 2000), thus the appliance used is a drainable bag. An ileostomy appliance is generally emptied four to five times daily, when a third to half full (Shollenberger *et al.* 2000). The appliance is generally replaced on alternate days, but this can vary from daily to up to four days' wear.

An ileostomy is usually situated within the right iliac fossa and is warm, red and moist with a small spout. The spout is ideally 2.5 cm in length

(McCahon 1999) and the average diameter is smaller than a colostomy at about 30 mm.

Urostomy

A urostomy is the least common of the three main types of stoma. In 1996 there were 2218 new urostomies formed, reducing to 1962 in 2001 and further dropping in 2006 to 1483 (IMS 2007). A urostomy is formed to pass urine from the body via the abdomen. A small segment of bowel is used as a passage (conduit), often the ileum, giving the name ileal conduit. The bowel is isolated and one end is over sewn and the ureters are attached. Generally immediately after surgery there are stents in situ to prevent the anastomosis between the ureter and bowel from stenosing. Ileal conduits are an improvement on the ureterostomy, where the ureters were brought to the surface of the skin (Harvey 1997) often resulting in problems such as stenosis of the ureters. A urostomy is nearly always a permanent, end stoma. The appropriate appliance to use is a drainable bag with a tap or bung. As part of the bowel is used to form the urostomy the urine will also contain small amounts of mucus. The appliance is usually emptied four to six times daily, as the appliances have a maximum capacity of about 400 ml (Fillingham 1997). This is about the same frequency as a bladder requires emptying. The appliance is generally replaced on alternate days, but may be more or less frequent. The volume passed will vary depending on the volumes consumed, but can be about 1.5 litres daily (Burch & Sica 2004).

A urostomy is usually situated in the right iliac fossa and is similar in appearance to an ileostomy. The urostomy is warm, red and moist with a 2.5 cm spout and is about 30 mm in diameter.

Mucous fistula

When a person has a mucous fistula formed they will have two stomas. One is formed to pass faeces and the other to release mucus from the body. A mucous fistula is fairly uncommon, but might be formed when there is a low rectal cancer or in the case of emergency surgery for ulcerative colitis. A mucous fistula allows the disconnected portion of the intestine to pass any mucus from the body that cannot pass out of the anus, for example past a tumour (Hyland 2002). Usually the amount of mucus is minimal and may be intermittent and jellylike, collected using a stoma cap or dressing. The mucus can be quite malodorous and patients should be advised of this fact. Ostomates who have had a subtotal colectomy with a mucous fistula formed from their retained rectal stump may pass liquid mucus. To contain the mucus a small drainable appliance may be appropriate.

Jejunostomy

A rarely formed stoma is the jejunostomy. A jejunostomy will be formed in situations such as a bowel infarct or following an extensive resection of small bowel. A jejunostomy is formed from the jejunum and will have a high faecal output, usually over one litre daily. Thus the frequency of

emptying the loose or liquid faeces is high (Erwin-Toth & Doughty 1992). Some ostomates will attach further drainage facilities to overcome this issue. Ideally the jejunostomy will look like an ileostomy, with a spout, but as the stoma is often formed in an emergency situation this is not always possible and stoma management may be difficult.

The appliance used for a jejunostomy can be an ileostomy appliance but there are also a limited number of specially designed appliances on the market. The high output appliances are slightly larger than the general ileostomy appliance and have a connector on the bottom that can be attached to a drainage bag. The appliance is generally changed on alternate days, but this may vary.

If there is under 100 cm of small bowel before the jejunostomy then parenteral nutrition will be required (see Chapter 16 on fistulae and intestinal failure). Any type of jejunostomy will generally require the ostomate to reduce oral hypotonic fluids and to take rehydration solution. Medications are also generally used to slow the gut and to reduce secretions, in addition, to try and reduce the faecal output (Nightingale 2003).

A feeding jejunostomy should not be confused with a faecal jejunostomy and is not discussed.

Stoma care nursing

The first mention of stoma care was in the 1930s when Plumley described how a patient worked out the care of his own ileostomy as there was no one to advise him (Black 2000). At this time the only help available was from other patients or to use one's own ingenuity (Elcoat 2003).

The issue of support for ostomates was first addressed in 1958 by an ileostomate Norma Gill (Broadwell & Jackson 1982). Ms Gill was not a health care professional but assisted Dr Turnbull in Cleveland, USA as an ostomy technician (Anderson 1982). Ms Gill helped to organise the United Ostomy Association and form the World Council of Enterostomal Therapists (Elcoat 2003). Dr Turnbull and Ms Gill started the first training programme for professionals in 1961, designed to assist ostomates to adjust to their stoma.

In 1969 a UK ward sister, Barbara Saunders at St Bartholomew's Hospital, London, set up a stoma clinic with her surgeon Ian Todd. Ms Saunders became the first stoma specialist nurse in the UK in 1971 (Black 2000).

In 1977 the Royal College of Nursing formed the Stoma Care Forum. Nurses with an interest in stoma care could, and still can, belong to this forum (Black 2000). This has now been expanded to include any nurse working in gastrointestinal nursing (Elcoat 2003). A year later the Department of Health and Social Services brought out 'The Provision of Stoma Care', a paper detailing to health authorities how to appoint a trained stoma specialist nurse. It was considered important to care for the small number of ostomates, as it was felt that this group faced significant problems coming to terms with their stoma.

Stoma care nursing is both acute and long-term, therefore patients are never discharged from the service. Patients can range from neonates to the elderly and the primary aim of the stoma specialist nurse is to promote independent living if possible. The advent of specialist nurses to improve the care for ostomates (Comb 2003) has resulted in over 400 stoma specialist nurses in the UK (Wallace 2002).

The WCET (World Council of Enterostomal Therapy) is a worldwide stoma care forum to support stoma specialist nurses. Every few years the council meets in different countries to exchange stoma care experience and knowledge. There is also the ECET (European Council of Enterostomal Therapy) in Europe and the WCET UK with meetings across Europe and the UK respectively.

Roles of the stoma specialist nurse

There are various perceptions on the role and qualities of the specialist nurse, with many centring on good communication and respect for the patients with an extensive knowledge of conditions and treatments (Rush & Cook 2006). The role of a specialist nurse includes:

- educator
- researcher
- expert
- clinician
- consultant
- resource
- administrator.
 (Black 2000)

Benner (1984) suggested that when becoming a specialist the nurse went through various stages from novice, advanced beginner, competence, proficiency, to becoming an expert. Specialisation has led to increasing independence for the practising nurse and thus greater accountability, for quality care, cost effectiveness, patient satisfaction and patient education (Jackson & Broadwell 1982). There is a perceived risk that the specialist nurse will simply take over medical roles that have been delegated to them. However, the nursing elements are still prevalent and important (Castledine 2002).

Training

The first UK stoma care course for trained nurses was in 1972 at St Bartholomew's Hospital (Black 2000). Training became popular and in 1980 the stoma care course had an 18-month waiting list (Yeo 1995). Later more training schools established stoma care courses. Currently, stoma care nursing courses have been given academic awards at diploma, degree and masters level. These modules can be used as 'stand alone' modules or as part of a programme to obtain a qualification. There are courses designed to assist registered nurses working with ostomates and others to prepare registered nurses to function as an expert in stoma care. These courses disseminate knowledge and expertise in stoma care (Elcoat 2003).

Link nurses

Link nurses are nurses with an interest in a specific area of nursing, such as stoma care. The aim for the link nurse is to enhance practice and therefore improve patient care. The link nurse can be seen as a two-way communicator between the specialist nurse and the ward nurses (Perry-Woodford 2005). The disadvantages are the time needed by the specialist nurse and the ward nurses to disseminate the information. This can be assisted by a computer-based training tool developed to be interactive and to underpin basic principles and practices in stoma care (Williams *et al.* 2007).

Deskilling

The role of specialist nurses is seen as many different things, ranging from providing expert care to deskilling other nurses to providing continuity of care. Elcoat (2003) suggests that the specialist nurse role should complement rather than detract from the skills of other health care professionals involved in the patient's care. To prevent nurses from losing their stoma care skills and competencies it is suggested that a referral is made to the stoma specialist nurse for advice rather than to take over the care (Dimond 2006). Following a survey undertaken by a community stoma specialist nurse her recommendations were, among other suggestions, that good communication was necessary between specialist nurses and others involved in the care of ostomates. Education by specialist nurses should be provided to prevent deskilling other nurses (Skingley 2006). Thus link nurses are ideal to assist the specialist nurse in the prevention of deskilling ward or community-based nurses. It is also essential for student nurses to gain a comprehensive knowledge of stoma care (Finlay 1990).

Present day stoma care

Stoma care, along with nursing in general and the National Health Service (NHS), are rapidly altering. Money and its effective use are more important than ever before. However, patients' expectations are also increasing and standards need to be maintained and improved. There are many generic nursing issues that affect stoma care, but specific areas include sponsorship of stoma nurse posts and the regulation of this.

The Essence of Care document (Department of Health 2001) discussed benchmarking to help improve the quality of care given to patients. Over the years those working in stoma care have attempted to achieve this by setting guidelines within their work remit. Principle was developed and published in conjunction with the Royal College of Nursing (RCN) and was designed as a framework for nurses to meet the needs of ostomates (Garnett et al. 1987). Wallace (2002) provided a more up-to-date set of competencies and nursing role with a booklet entitled Competencies in Nursing: Caring for People with Colorectal Problems.

Support groups

The first ostomy support groups were set up in America. Currently in the UK, professionals and ostomates run both national and local support groups for people with stomas. The practical advice and help that these groups provide to the ostomates is invaluable. The ones mentioned below are some of the support groups and the list is not exhaustive.

National support groups for colostomates

The Colostomy Welfare Group was formed in 1966 (McCahon 1999). This later became the British Colostomy Association (BCA), which folded 31 December 2005, partially due to funding problems (Gould 2006). A new organisation named the Colostomy Association was launched in November 2005, the website is www.colostomyassociation.org.uk. The association aims to support people with, or about to have, a colostomy and their families and carers (Hulme & Brierley 2007).

National support groups for ileostomates

The ileostomy association of Great Britain and Ireland (*ia*) was formed in 1956 (McCahon 1999). This association changed its name and function slightly to incorporate small bowel pouches such as the ileoanal pouch. The name is currently the Ileostomy and Internal Pouch Support Group; the website is www.the-ia.org.uk. The association aims to support people who require surgery to remove their colon and have an ileostomy or ileoanal pouch formed.

National support groups for urostomates

The Urostomy Association aims to support people who are to undergo, or have undergone, surgery to divert urine. The association was formed in 1971 as the Urinary Conduit Association. In 1984 the name changed to the Urostomy Association (UA). The website is www.uagbi.org.

National support groups for pouch patients

The Red Lion Group is a UK charity for people who have, or who are considering having, a pouch operation. The website is www.redliongroup. org.

The future of stoma care

The government regularly updates and alters its policies related to health care provision. There have been, on various occasions, proposals to revise the way that the NHS supplies and delivers stoma appliances. In many cases provision of personal assistance to patients may be lost for ostomates under the proposals that took effect in Scotland in 2005. More analysis of

the situation is being undertaken before final decisions are made in the UK.

The NHS spends more than £630 million each year in England on products such as stoma appliances, incontinence pads and dressings. The reimbursements system for over 200 suppliers requires review. However, some people are concerned that company-sponsored nurses will only promote their own companies' products which compromises patient choice (Gould 2006). However, it can be argued that in the current climate sponsorship of nurse posts actually saves the Trusts' money (Black 2006). Additionally most specialist nurses consider that choice is important. In a survey of stoma specialist nurses, it was demonstrated that there were strong feelings from the nurses about the quality of products available to stoma patients. The research also showed that many of the newer products are far superior to the older products, and comparisons on a cost basis alone were short-sighted and jeopardise product availability and the current high standards of stoma care (Berry *et al.* 2007).

Patient empowerment is desirable if not essential (Christensen & Hewitt-Taylor 2006). Nurses are in the ideal position to facilitate patient empowerment. Appropriately informed autonomous patients can therefore be responsible for their own health decisions.

What is the future for nurses? Currently nurses are discovering it difficult to find new jobs, with potential budgets cuts and posts not being replaced (Foss 2006). Nurses need to remain flexible and adapt to change as they have for many years (Porrett 1996). There are, however, fears about the ability of nursing to continue to evolve in a situation where many hospital jobs including specialist nurse posts have been cut (Mallender 2006), downgraded or are under threat (Norton & Porrett 2006). The RCN magazine stated that the Health Service could not afford to lose specialist nursing posts (Thomas 2007) but many nursing jobs are still at risk.

To conclude, it is a huge change in an ostomate's life to have stoma forming surgery. However with appropriate support and advice the ostomate can enjoy a good quality of life.

References

Anderson FJ (1982) History of enterostomal therapy. In: Broadwell DC & Jackson BS (eds) *Principles of Ostomy Care*. London: The CV Mosby Co.

Benner P (1984) From Novice to Expert. California: Addison-Wesley.

Berry J, Black P, Smith R & Stuchfield B (2007) Assessing the value of silicone and hydrocolloid products in stoma care. *British Journal of Nursing*. **16(13)**: 778–88.

Black P (2000) Holistic Stoma Care. London: Baillière Tindall.

Black P (2006) Patients need specialist, sponsored nursing posts. *British Journal of Nursing*. **15(22)**: 1209.

Broadwell DC & Jackson BS (1982) A primer: definitions and surgical techniques. In: Broadwell DC & Jackson BS (eds) *Principles of Ostomy Care*. London: The CV Mosby Co.

Brooke BN (1952) The management of an ileostomy including its complications. *The Lancet.* **2(3)**: 102–4.

Burch J & Sica J (2004) Urostomy products: an update of recent developments. *British Journal of Nursing*. **9(11)**: 482–6.